FILED

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAY 3 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Office Deputy Clerk

EUGENE R. O'NEAL,

Petitioner,

.

Case No.

83858

STATE OF FLORIDA,

vs.

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

WAYNE S. MELNICK Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 5444

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 8, 1995, the State Attorney in and for the Tenth Judicial Circuit, Polk County, filed an information against Petitioner, EUGENE R. O'NEAL, charging him with one count of possession of cocaine within 1000 feet of a school with intent to sell or deliver and sale of cocaine within 1000 feet of a school, both contrary to section 893.13(1), Florida Statutes (1993). Petitioner filed a motion to dismiss. Petitioner argued the time of the alleged sale of cocaine within 1000 feet of a school, 11:46 p.m., did not fall within the statutory period of "between 6:00 a.m. and 12 a.m." and that the term "12 a.m." was unconstitutionally vague.

On June 23, 1995, a hearing was held before the Honorable Robert Young, Circuit Judge. The Circuit Court's order noted that Petitioner withdrew any issue as to whether the instant vocational institution was a "school" and stated that Petitioner attacked the facial validity of the statute. By doing so, Petitioner argued the time period listed, between the hours of 6 a.m. and 12 a.m., is unconstitutional on its face and as applied to his sale at 11:46 p.m.

On June 26, 1995, the Circuit Court granted the motion to dismiss. Noting the precursor to the current statute regulating the hours of the sale of alcohol, the Circuit Court found the language used in the instant statute in question to be used incorrectly. The Circuit Court also found the statute in question, section 893.13(1)(A)1.(c), was equally applicable on weekends,

holidays, and over summer vacation when schools are not in session. Thus, the Circuit Court found the term "12 a.m." ambiguous to people of common intelligence and declared the provision to be unconstitutionally vague. The State timely filed a notice of appeal on June 29, 1995.

On March 27, 1995, the Second District Court of Appeal issued an opinion in Mr. O'Neal's case. The Second District reversed the order of the Circuit Court, with the only language of the opinion being "Reversed. See Jennings v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D264 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 26, 1996)."

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

When the Second District Court of Appeal reversed the opinion of the Circuit Court expressly declaring this particular state statute to be unconstitutionally vague, it declared valid this particular state statute so as to allow this Court the ability to invoke jurisdiction in this case. These issues attacking the constitutionality of this particular statute are also being presented to this Court in an appeal from the First District Court of Appeals. Although jurisdiction is still pending at this time, it is possible this Court will have accepted jurisdiction on that case by the time this case comes before the Court on the question of jurisdiction. Thus, this Court can also accept this case inasmuch as it will have the same issues pending before it.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE DECISION IN State v. O'Neal, Case No. 95-2732 (Fla. 2d DCA March 27, 1996), EXPRESSLY DECLARES VALID A STATE STATUTE?

Under Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i), this Court may exercise its discretionary powers to accept a case for review wherein a district court's decision expressly declares valid a state statute. In Mr. O'Neal's case, the constitutionality of the possession or sale of cocaine within 1000 feet of a school between the hours of 6 a.m. and 12 a.m. was attacked on both the trial court and district court of appeals levels. The Petitioner's Answer Brief filed in the Second District Court of Appeal supported the Circuit Court's Order declaring section 893.13(1)(A)1.(c) to be unconstitutionally vaque. Further, the Answer Brief filed on behalf of Petitioner also argued that even assuming, arguendo, the statute was not unconstitutionally vaque, the rule of lenity still required it to be construed in the way most favorable to the accused. The Second District Court of Appeals rejected both the Circuit Court order and the rule of lenity argument, relying solely the First District Court of Appeals decision in Jennings v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D264 (Fla. 1st DCA January 26, 1996).

Jennings held that section 893.13(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1993), was not unconstitutionally vague insofar as it uses the term "12 a.m." in the definition of an enhanced punishment provision.

The First District Court of Appeals held the time period set forth in the statute "between the hours of 6 a.m. and 12 a.m.," means between 6 a.m. and Midnight; because the Court interpreted the term "12 a.m." to mean Midnight "within the context of the statute."

The question in both <u>Jennings</u> and the instant case was whether the phrase "12 a.m." in section 893.13(1)(c) violates the Due Process Clauses of the United States and Florida Constitutions because "men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at it's meaning and differ as to its application." <u>Connally v. General Const. Co.</u>, 269 U.S. 385, 391, 46 S. Ct. 126, 70 L. Ed. 322 (1926); <u>State v. Thomas</u>, 616 So. 2d 1198 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993).

As the Second District Court of Appeal recently stated in State v. Green, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D459 (Fla. 2d DCA February 14, 1996), "Although a layperson relying upon common sense could reject this argument on the basis that it is just silly, lawyers and judges do not always have the luxury of relying on common sense."

Even if this Court determines the ambiguity present in section 893.13(1)(A)1.(c), does not to rise to the level of unconstitutionality, the rule of lenity should apply. Brown v. State, 629 So. 2d 841 (Fla. 1994), recently addressed the vagueness principle with respect to a closely related statute, section 893.13(1)(i), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990), and found a term unconstitutional because of the rule of lenity. Brown, 629 So. 2d at 842-43. In Perkins v. State, 576 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1991), this Court explained in great detail the Due Process and statutory principles embodied in the rule of lenity, stating that to the extent that definiteness is

lacking, a statute must be construed in the manner most favorable to the accused. <u>Perkins</u>, 576 So. 2d at 1312-1313 (citing <u>Palmer v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1983); <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 377 So. 2d 709 (Fla. 1979)).

The <u>Perkins</u> court acknowledged the rule of strict construction required it to adhere to the stricter sense of statutory language. Thus, to the extent that a word or phrase, like "12 a.m." in the instant case is vague or ambiguous, "the district court was under an obligation to construe it in the manner most favorable to the accused. Art. I § 9, Art II, § 3, Fla. Const.; § 775.02(1), Fla. Stat. (1987); <u>Brown [v. State</u>, 258 So. 2d 16 (Fla. 1978)]; <u>Palmer [v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1983)]; [<u>State ex. rel. Lee v. Buchanan</u>, 191 So. 2d 33, 36 (Fla. 1966)]." <u>Perkins</u>, 576 So. 2d at 1313. These cases require the rule of lenity to be employed to strictly construe this statute. The <u>Jennings</u> court even acknowledged the statute in question in the instant case relied on a slightly vague or ambiguous term; even if it did not rise to the level of unconstitutionality. <u>Id.</u> at D264.

Thus, even assuming the phrase "12 a.m." does not render the statute unconstitutionally void as violating Due Process, according to the rule of lenity, this Court should construe the term "12 a.m." in the light most favorable to the accused and determine it to mean Noon and not Midnight. Because the Second District Court of Appeal rejected all constitutional attacks made on this particular statute, it declared valid this statute. This Court may

exercise its discretionary review powers and accept jurisdiction over this case.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE ISSUES IN O'NEAL ON THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF SECTION 893.13-(1)(A)1.(c) ARE PRESENTLY PENDING BEFORE THIS COURT IN OTHER CASES?

As stated above, the First District Court of Appeal decided the issue pertinent to this case in <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D264 (Fla. 1st DCA January 26, 1996). A Notice to Invoke this Court's Discretionary jurisdiction was also filed in <u>Jennings</u>. The current style for that case is <u>Jennings v. State</u>, Florida Case Number 87,587.

By the time this Court must decide whether to accept or reject jurisdiction over Mr. O'Neal's case, it will most likely have decided on the jurisdictional issue in the <u>Jennings</u> case. If this Court accepts jurisdiction on the <u>Jennings</u> case from the First District Court of Appeal, it should also accept jurisdiction over Mr. O'Neal's case. <u>See</u>, <u>Jollie v. State</u>, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981).

CONCLUSION

In light of the forgoing reasons, arguments, and authorities, petitioner has demonstrated the Second District Court of Appeal has expressly declared valid a state statute so as to invoke discretionary review. Petitioner has also demonstrated that the issue in question is also presently pending before this Court on its discretionary jurisdiction and may have been accepted by the time this brief is considered so as to invoke discretionary review in this manner.