IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SECTIONALSE MAY 13 1956 CLEAR AS CLEAR CONNET

EUGENE O'NEAL,

Petitioner,

v.

FSC NO. 87,858

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ERICA M. RAFFEL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0329150

Westwood Center 2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

/mad

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Relying upon the mantra "rule of lenity," the Petitioner applies a grossly unnatural and illogical construction to a Florida Statute in an effort to contest its constitutionality. It is respectfully submitted that this Court should not grant discretionary review to consider such challenges to Florida Statutes simply because the argument, as rejected by the District Court, addressed the constitutionality of the challenged statute.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE COURT SHOULD GRANT DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO CONSIDER A CHALLENGE TO THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF §893.13(1)(A), FLA. STAT. (1993)

before The issue this Honorable Court is whether discretionary review should be granted to review the Second District Court of Appeal's per curiam rejection of a constitutional challenge to §893.13(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1993), by way of reference to <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 21 FLW D264 (1st DCA January 26, 1996). The State will not argue that the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal is not an express finding of validity of a State statute but rather, it is submitted that the absence of any logical challenge to the statute should preclude discretionary review.

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review District Court rulings on the constitutionality of Florida Statutes. Fla. R. A.P. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(I) or (ii). The Court's discretionary review power gives it the ability not to burden itself with review of every constitutional challenge to every statute. The rule also enables the court to avoid addressing constitutional issues unnecessarily; to wit:

Although this court acquires jurisdiction by virtue of the district court's ruling that expressly construes a provision of the Florida constitution, we adhere to the settled principle of constitutional law that courts should endeavor to implement the legislative intent of the statutes and avoid constitutional issues.

<u>State v. Mozo</u>, 655 So. 2d 1115 (Fla. 1995).

The case at bar provides an outstanding example of the kind of litigation the rule was created to avoid. The Petitioner argued that the statute in question was unconstitutionally vague and, in addition, alluded to application of the "rule of lenity."

The Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief, again, addresses the "rule of lenity," thus clearly calling into question the issue the defense wants to argue. The "rule of lenity" does not provide a separate ground for discretionary Florida Supreme court review under Fla. R. A.P.. P. 9.303(a)(2)(A)(I) or (ii).

The Petitioner has failed to allege or show any actual error or infirmity in the First District court of Appeal's interpretation of the statute at issue as adopted in the opinion of the Second District court of Appeal. The First District carefully construed the statute in terms of "vagueness" and, as suggested by this court, in terms of obvious legislative intent, and the Second

District correctly adopted it in their per curiam reversal of the trial court's finding of vagueness.

The issue before the district court was whether the statute in question was unconstitutionally vague because of alleged confusion over the meaning of the abbreviation of "a.m." as applied to 12 o'clock. The argument tendered by the Petitioner was that the statute providing for enhanced penalties for pushing drugs near a school could be construed as only applying to drug sales taking place between six in the morning and "noon," but not to any drug sales committed during the lunch period or after school. Thus, according to Petitioner, pushers arrested near the schools during the afternoon were unfairly surprised by the stature. In support of this argument, the Petitioner came up with a circuit court order from another case as supplemental authority which cites an obscure federal memorandum from the U.S. Naval Observatory, relied on in a New Jersey case, construing "12 a.m." as "noon" rather than "midnight" as commonly understood. There was never any showing that the Petitioner relied upon the United States Naval Observatory Memo when scheduling his narcotics transactions.

The District Court in <u>Jennings v. State</u>, supra, determined that the constitutional issue was to be resolved according to the

standards announced in this Court's decision in <u>Brown v, State</u>, 629 So. 2d 841 (Fla. 1994); to wit:

> The standard for testing vagueness under Florida law is whether the statute gives a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what constitutes forbidden conduct. <u>Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 405 U.S. 156. ... "The language of the statute must 'provide a definite warning of what conduct is required or prohibited, measured by common understanding or practice.'" <u>Warren v. State</u>, 572 So.d. 1376, 1377 (Fla. 1991) (quoting <u>State v. Bussey</u>, 463 So.d. 1141, 1144.

The district court applied this reasoning and referred to the court's holding in <u>State v. Manfredonia</u>, 649 So. 2d. 1388, 1390 (Fla. 1995), that a statute, even if not "a paradigm of legislative drafting" need not require ideal linguistic precision in order to be valid, as well as the rule that the courts should construe a statute in keeping with the intent of the Legislature. <u>Young v.</u> <u>St. Vincent's Medical Ctr. Inc.</u> 653 So. 2d. 499, 506 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), review granted, <u>So. 2d.</u> (Fla. 1995).

The District Court thus concluded that the statute, by any reasonable reading, conveyed the warning that illegal drug sales within 1,000 feet of a school during those hours when children might be present were subject to enhanced penalties.

Boiled down to its essence, the real request of the Petitioner is that this court employ the "rule of lenity" to apply

or unnatural meaning to statutory terms, and frustrate legislative intent for the benefit of drug dealers who prey on children. It is submitted that in the absence of any logical or cogent challenge to the well-reasoned decision of the First District Court of Appeal as adopted by the Second District Court of Appeal herein, , discretionary review should not be granted.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussions, the State respectfully

submits that discretionary review should not be granted.